047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE 3/8
FEB 16 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,766

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

YVONNE E. REED,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 407 Biscayne Building 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Tele.: (305)377-2356 Fla. Bar No. 113699

INTRODUCTION

The Florida Bar was the Complainant. It will be referred to as the Bar. Yvonne Reed was the Respondent. She will be referred to as the Respondent.

They symbol "T". will be used to designate the transcript of the hearing before the Referee. The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the Report of the Referee.

PREFACE

This situation involves an attorney who acted in good faith to help all parties. The end results were most favorable to all, except the attorney. This case confirms the validity of the cynical observation that no good deed goes unpunished.

The overzealousness of the Bar cannot be countenced.

The Respondent respectfully requests that the Court review her actions, consider her good faith, and rule accordingly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Bar charged the Respondent, Yvonne Reed, in a four count complaint. Count I alleged misuse of trust account monies, Count II alleged the collection of an excessive fee, Count III alleged conflict of interest by dual representation, Count IV alleged conflict of interest with a client.

In August, 1990, Michael and Kathie Heller were selling a home located in Lighthouse Point, Florida. Dimetrio Garcia and Carol Sullivan were interested in purchasing the Hellers' home (RR,¶1).

Frederick Panton, a real estate agent, who holds a Florida Real Estate license and Broker's license (T.112), was working with Prudential Florida Realty in 1990 (T.113). The Hellers listed their home with Mr. Panton (T.115). Mr. Panton submitted the listing to the Board of Realtors and put it into the Prudential computer and submitted a signed request (T.116). He made flyers for all the people in his office, put them in their mail slots, and wrote newspapers adds (T.116).

The Hellers were anxious to sell (T.116). They told Mr. Panton that they had to get out of there because their business was not doing well and their landlord had just told them that they only had a short time left (T.116). They told Mr. Panton that they really needed the funds out of the sale of the house to help them in their business and to help them carry on their lives (T.116-117).

Mr. Panton received an offer on the house presented by the Respondent (T.121). She had a contract that she wanted to review with him and the Hellers (T.121). They met in the kitchen of the Hellers' house (T.121-122).

The discussion at the Hellers' kitchen table, between Mr. Panton, the Respondent, and the Hellers, concerned the price, terms, conditions, special clauses, and disclosures of who was who (T.122). As to disclosures, the Respondent totally let the Hellers know that the customer was her customer due to her real estate activity, that she was a lawyer and that she would probably be handling the closing, the documents and that stuff for the buyer, and she offered to do the same for the Hellers, to prepare their documents for them (T.122). She told the Hellers that she could not represent them as a lawyer (T.122). She said that there would be a conflict (T.122). She could handle their closing documents (T.122). She asked them if that would be okay, if they wanted to go that way (T.122-123). Mr. Panton suggested to them that if they wanted a quick closing, this is usually the way to do it with all the paper work done in one house (T.123).

The Hellers made a counter offer which was accepted (T.123-124). The Respondent represented the buyers, Sullivan and Garcia, as their agent, and she was also going to be their lawyer (T.124). She told this to the Hellers while they were at the table presenting the first offer (T.124).

The Respondent was not involved in the negotiations over price (T.125).

The Respondent testified that she told Mr. and Mrs. Heller that she had known Carol Sullivan for approximately five years (T.343). She told them that she was bringing the offer to them as a realtor and that she had been requested to close the transaction for Carol Sullivan (T.343). She told the Hellers that she was an attorney (T.343). She told the Hellers that she was representing clients (T.343). She did not tell the Hellers that she was able to represent them as a lawyer (T.343-344). She told them if they had a problem with her representing Carol Sullivan at the closing that she would withdraw and would have someone else do it (T.344). Mr. Heller said "I owned a Century 21 franchise. I have been

through these closings hundreds of times. That is not necessary." (T.344). Mr. Heller started talking about the title documents (T.344). Respondent said "I would not be able to represent you at the closing if you are giving me permission to represent Carol." (T.344).

Mr. Heller asked the Respondent what the normal charge was in the community for the preparation of closing documents (T.345). She told him approximately \$200.00 (T.345). He asked the Respondent if she would prepare his closing documents (T.345). He said it would be much cheaper than his having to have an attorney there (T.345). Mr. Heller was looking for the cheapest, fastest way out (T.345). Since it would be cheaper, and Mr. Heller wanted to avoid any costs whatsoever, Mr. Heller agreed that she do so (RR,¶39).

She disclosed to Mr. Heller that she was an attorney; that she represented Sullivan and Garcia; Mr. Heller was a realtor; he told her that he was a realtor; and he told her that he had done this many times (T.345).

On August 12, 1990, Garcia, Sullivan, and the Hellers reached an agreement on the purchase of the Hellers' home, in which Garcia and Sullivan agreed to pay \$290,000.00 in cash for the home (RR,¶2). The Respondent, acting as realtor and attorney for Garcia and Sullivan, participated in the preparation of the contract which memorialized the terms of the parties' agreement (RR,¶3).

On August 30, 1990, the Hellers executed a warranty deed and all other necessary documents to conclude the sale of their home. The closing documents were prepared by the Respondent (RR,¶4).

On or about August 30, 1990, or August 31, 1990, the Respondent was informed by Sullivan and/or Garcia that they were having difficulties securing the cash necessary to close the transaction. They would only be able to bring a check for \$90,000.00 to the closing table. They further represented that the rest of the cash necessary to conclude the

transaction would be forthcoming in several days. The Hellers demanded to close by August 31, 1991, creating a potentially unstable financial situation (RR,¶5).

This caused the parties and Respondent, on August 31, 1990, to restructure the parties' agreement, such that Sullivan and Garcia would pay \$90,000.00 and take the property subject to the two mortgages covering it and satisfy the mortgages within thirty days of closing. Both of the mortgages contained due on sale clauses and were not assumable by Sullivan or Garcia (RR,¶6). The Respondent also prepared an addendum, Bar's Exhibit "A" (RR,¶7).

Joanna Youngblood, a broker for Prudential Florida Realty in Lighthouse Point, testified (T.160). She knew of the Hellers because their property was listed with her office (T.160).

At some point it became obvious that the total \$290,000.00 was not going to be forthcoming by the time of closing (T.165). She had several telephone calls with Mr. Heller (T.165). Mr. Heller said: "We've got to close" (T.165). They said that they had reviewed the problems with their attorney, Mr. Joseph Hubert (T.165). The Hellers very urgently wanted to close this deal and they were that way from the day that Prudential took the listing (T.166). The Hellers had consulted with their attorneys about what to do if the mortgages were not paid off at the closing (T.167).

There was a tremendous sense of urgency to close on the part of the Hellers (T.168). Mr. Heller called her to say that: "We have to close on this house. Even if you don't get paid, you've got to do this for us." (T.168-169). She told him that they would (T.169). She was willing to give up her commission if need be (T.169).

When she realized that the full amount of cash was not available for the closing, and that they only had \$90,000.00 to work with, they also realized the risk that was involved if

the other money did not come in (T.169). They would have to close subject to the mortgages on the property (T.170). All of that was reviewed with the Hellers (T.170). That was when Mr. Heller said: "We've got to close no matter what. You've got to do this for me." (T.170).

She reviewed with Mr. Heller the time he would have to wait to see if the mortgages would be paid off (T.170). Despite the fact that the property was being sold subject to the mortgages, Mr. Heller said: "We've got to close this." (T.170). There was no question about it, it was urgent, urgent that they close (T.170).

The Respondent testified that after Mr. Heller learned that it would not be an all cash closing, he spoke to his attorney, Joseph Hubert (T.358). He then insisted on closing (T.359).

As to the \$90,000.00 cashiers check, on or about August 31, 1990, Mr. Garcia presented the Respondent with the check, drawn on the Banco de Credito Argentino payable through the Bank of New York, in the face amount of \$90,000.00 (RR,¶19).

After 5:00 P.M. on August 31, 1990, the Respondent went to Capital Bank with the cashiers check and presented it to Capital Bank. Capital Bank, after discussing the check and the situation with the Bank of New York, approved the check and allowed the Respondent to deposit the check in her trust account and to draw checks against the cashiers check. This approval by Capital Bank allowed the Respondent to provide the net sale proceeds to the Hellers (RR,¶20).

The closing took place at Ms. Youngblood's office at 9:00 in the evening (T.170). A check was written for Mr. and Mrs. Heller (T.170-171). The Hellers cashed out (T.170-171). Capital Bank agreed to cover the \$35,000.00 check paid to the Hellers (T.171). The

Hellers received exactly what they bargained for in the sale of their home and were very happy (T.171).

Ms. Youngblood repeated that everything was disclosed to the Hellers by the Respondent (T.178). She had a dinner party waiting for her, it was Friday evening, and all that time was spent explaining these circumstances to the Hellers (T.178). There was nothing that they were not told, advised of, or had disclosed to them in this transaction (T.178).

Her commission was the only thing that was not guaranteed that night (T.178).

Everybody was happy because the Hellers were receiving their money (T.178).

The Respondent prepared an addendum to the deposit receipt contract for purchase and sale and an escrow agreement (RR,¶7) (Bar Exhibit "A").

On redirect, the addendum (Bar Exhibit "A", Respondent's Exhibit 15), was discussed in detail.

Ms. Sullivan, Mr. Garcia, the Respondent, Michael Heller, Kathie Heller, and she (Ms. Youngblood) were present when the addendum was reviewed (T.185).

The addendum was reviewed line by line, and in great detail with Mr. and Mrs. Heller, with all of them sitting there going through the whole thing (T.185).

Bar's Exhibit "A", which is also Respondent's Exhibit 15, was reviewed with the Hellers on the night of the closing (T.185). It had to be typed (T.186). Everything was done in a scrambling to get the matter closed by the 31st (T.186).

The second whereas clause, which involved the two mortgages on the property from Gold Coast and Barnett Mortgage Company and the fact that the purchaser was taking the property subject to these two mortgages was discussed with the Hellers (T.187).

The next whereas clause, in which the purchaser and escrow depositor presented to the escrow agent a cashiers check in the amount of \$90,000.00 drawn on the bank of Argentina was discussed with the Hellers (T.187-188).

The next whereas clause, in which the Hellers agreed to accept a trust check from the escrow agent in the amount of \$35,924.30 was discussed with the Hellers (T.188). The Hellers knew exactly how much they were going to receive (T.188).

The next whereas clause, which stated that the purchaser and escrow depositor agreed to bring additional funds necessary to pay the closing costs and mortgage principal and interest of the two mortgages, within ten (10) business days or a reasonable time after September 3, 1990, was explained to them (T.188). Ms. Sullivan and Mr. Garcia agreed to this but it did not happen (T.188-189). The Hellers agreed to this as well (T.189).

The next whereas clause stated that the sellers, purchasers, and escrow depositor agreed that the monies deposited into the escrow agent's account would remain the money of the purchaser and escrow depositor and would be disbursed to satisfy the obligations of the agreement at the discretion of the escrow agent with all parties agreeing that there would be no further disbursements of monies until the funds from the cashiers check was deposited into the escrow agent's account, was explained to the Hellers (T.189).

The last whereas clause acknowledged that the purchaser had executed a quit claim deed in blank to be held in escrow by the escrow agent pending the satisfactory compliance with the agreement and the deposit and receipt contract, and this was explained and discussed with the Hellers (T.189-190). They knew that the quit claim deed had already been executed (T.190).

On the second page, the first agreement, that the purchaser would pay off all mortgages on the property was discussed with the Hellers (T.190).

The second agreement, that the disbursement of the remaining monies would be disbursed at the discretion of the escrow agent, with the understanding that an effort would be made to bring all mortgages current, record the deed and satisfy the expenses of the sale, was discussed with the Hellers (T.190).

The third part of the agreement, that the escrow agent would give the purchaser a closing statement detailing the disbursement of all monies at the conclusion of all transactions, was explained to the Hellers (T.190).

That is what they were doing there for hours (T.190). Everybody put themselves out to conduct the closing that evening in order that the Hellers could be paid (T.190).

Moreover, Mr. Panton refused to attend the closing because he did not think it was in the best interests of the Hellers to go ahead and close with somebody from whom they did not have guaranteed funds (T.129). He told that to the Hellers (T.129). The Hellers said: "No, we've got to close. We've got everything set up, our moving trucks." (T.129).

Mr. Panton was aware that there were mortgages on the property (T.129). On the first contract for sale, the Hellers' mortgages were supposed to be paid out of the cash at closing (T.130). He informed the Hellers that all the cash was not going to be forthcoming (T.130). At that time he told them that his advice was not to go forward with the closing when it was obvious that the cash was not coming in (T.130-131).

Even though Mr. Panton's advice to them was not to close, the Hellers went full steam ahead (T.135). They wanted to get out of there, get closed, and get their money (T.135). They told him that they had outstanding obligations and that they definitely wanted to close at the time that the contract required because they had set up their payments for whatever they were doing in the hopes that they would have that escrow check in the bank (T.135-136).

Mr. Panton discussed the status of the Gold Coast mortgage with Mr. Heller (T.136). Mr. Heller told him that he was in hot water (T.136). He told Mr. Panton that: "We're a couple of months behind here. We've really got to get the show on the road, Fred. Do whatever you can, sell the house, we're in a bind." (T.136).

Although neither party executed the addendum, the closing proceeded and Ms. Sullivan took title to the property (RR,¶8). The addendum was the agreement of the parties (RR,¶39). Mr. Garcia provided the \$90,000.00, but he was not placed on the warranty deed at the closing (RR,¶8).

The Hellers received that to which they were entitled, \$35,924.30, (T.170-171). They cashed out (T.171). The Hellers received exactly what they bargained for in the sale of their home and they were very happy (T.171).

The amended sellers' closing statement executed by the Hellers, dated August 30, 1990, sets forth how the closing proceeds were to be disbursed (RR,¶21; Florida Bar Exhibit "B").

The Respondent disbursed the \$90,000.00 from her trust account in the manner set forth in the Referee's Report (RR,¶22). All of the checks mentioned in Paragraph 22 of the Referee's Report were for expenses related to the property involved (RR,¶23).

In late September, 1990, Capital Bank told the Respondent that her trust account was going to be overdrawn by \$60,000.00 (T.270-271). The next day Capital Bank said that it had made a mistake and that there was no problem with the check (T.271). The bank of Argentina had raised a question (T.271). Capital Bank said there was a problem then they said it was not a problem (T.272). Capital Bank first said there was a problem and the next day said that there was no problem (T.272).

When Capital Bank told her that the check was not any good she said that they had already approved the check (T.276). The bank said that she had to decide what to do with the overdrawn trust account (T.276).

She told her secretary to liquidate her retirement account at Merril Lynch (T.276-277). She did (T.277). The Referee found that immediately the Respondent began to liquidate assets so that the bank's threatened action in charging \$90,000.00 against her trust account (despite the bank's agreement and confirmation on August 31, 1990, that the check was good through correspondent Bank of New York) would not adversely affect other clients' monies held in trust (RR,¶26).¹ Before the Respondent received the money, Capital Bank said that it had made a mistake, and the amount was not going to be overdrawn (T.277). The Respondent stopped writing checks on the amount of the cashiers check until her bank, Capital Bank, informed her the problem was resolved and confirmed that the funds were available (RR,¶28).

Ms. Sullivan realized that there were many problems and that she and Mr. Garcia were not going to be able to come up with the money to pay off the mortgages on the property (T.284). Indeed, the Hellers were at the doorstep of foreclosure at the time of closing (T.336). Ms. Sullivan asked the Respondent initially to remarket the property (T.284).

Ms. Youngblood tried to hold an auction to sell the property when it was still in Ms. Sullivan's name to pay off the mortgages (T.285). Mr. Garcia would not let people into the house to see it (T.285). At that point, there was nothing else they could do (T.285). They

¹ An audit of the Respondent's trust accounts was undertaken by the Bar. No violation of the trust account rules of the Florida Bar was found in any of the Respondent's accounts. All were found to be in compliance with the Bar rules (RR.¶26).

sat down and talked to Ms. Sullivan (T.285). They counseled with her and told her essentially that if she wanted to, she could quitclaim the deed over to the Respondent and the Respondent could market it (T.285). The Respondent should have put "Trustee" at the end of her name as the grantee on the quit claim deed (T.285).

She did not tell Ms. Sullivan to seek independent counsel (T.285). Ms. Sullivan was very emotional at the time (T.285-286). She realized that there were tremendous problems that were going on (T.286). She realized that the whole thing was costing everyone a tremendous amount of heartache and this was the way Ms. Sullivan wanted to handle it (T.286). The Respondent took title to the property in her own name (T.286). She paid no consideration (RR,¶10).

The Respondent was forced to evict Ms. Sullivan and Mr. Garcia (T.286-287). The Respondent helped Ms. Sullivan vacate the premises (T.288).

She rented the house to a tenant (T.289). He paid \$200.00 (T.289).

The house was in bad condition when Ms. Sullivan and Mr. Garcia left (T.328). Joanna Youngblood testified that the house was in very bad shape when Ms. Sullivan and Mr. Garcia left (T.174). It had been lived in very hard and cosmetically it was a disaster (T.174).

The Respondent disbursed over \$28,000.00 to conserve the property (RR,¶28). The largest check was to Gold Coast to stop foreclosure (T.333-334). The Respondent paid the remaining money from the cashiers check, as well as using her own money for contractors and for building materials (RR,¶29). She paid off the mortgages and the expenses incurred in the maintenance of the property as well as recovering approximately \$31,000.00 for the benefit of the Bank of New York, when the property was sold to Roseanna Martino (RR,¶28). This was \$2,000.00 more than if the account had been turned over to that bank

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