FILED SID J. WHITE 3/10

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
By——	ef Denuty Cl	· Or walk

THE FLORIDA BAR,) Supreme Court Case
Complainant-Appellee,) No. 79,766
v.) The Florida Bar File
YVONNE E. REED,) No. 91-50,685 (17E)
Respondent-Appellant.)

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 N. Andrews Avenue Suite 835 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 (305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY, #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case arises, not because respondent was the unlucky recipient of an altered check, but as a result of respondent's decision to represent all sides in a real estate transaction, including her own. Respondent's conflict laden relationship to this transaction was only exasperated when it was discovered that one set of clients could not deliver the cash to fund the purchase and that the only funds provided were by way of an altered check. One bad decision (forcing Sullivan to quit claim the property to respondent) led to another (knowingly using disputed trust monies to protect respondent's property from foreclosure). Each such decision pulled respondent deeper and deeper into the morass created by respondent's conflicting loyalties to the Hellers, Sullivan, Garcia and herself. In the end analysis respondent was paid \$5,500.00 in attorneys fees, approximately \$5,000.00 in real estate commissions, \$200.00 in rent, approximately \$8,000.00 in sale proceeds and a promissory note valued at over \$30,000.00. She even took the last remaining dollar from her trust account from the initial deposit of \$90,000.00. Yet there is still the very real possibility that respondent will have to return all or part of this conflict aided profit to the Bank of New York.

Respondent has abandoned any claim that she is not guilty of the ethical violations found by the referee. Accordingly, the only issue on this appeal is the propriety of the recommended sanction of a two year suspension from the practice of law. Respondent contends that she should receive an admonishment or at most a public reprimand for her ethical misdeeds. The bar finds this position to be untenable due to the serious nature of the misconduct and urges this court to adopt the referee's recommended sanction.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED SANCTION OF A TWO YEAR SUSPENSION IS CONSISTENT WITH THE PRECEPTS OF LAWYER DISCIPLINE.

Respondent's brief, while factually orientated, does not contest the referee's findings of fact or guilt. Accordingly, the only issue for determination on this appeal is whether or not this court should adopt the referee's recommendation of a two year suspension from the practice of law.

It is well settled that "a referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness, unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence." The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So. 2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Roberts, 626 So. 2d 658, 659 (Fla. 1993). In the case at hand, the respondent has failed to demonstrate that the referee's recommended sanction is "clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence." Thus, the recommended two year suspension must be upheld.

Respondent has been found guilty of three distinct unethical acts related to the sale and resale of a certain home in Lighthouse Point, Florida. In Count I respondent was found to have improperly disbursed approximately \$28,000.00 from her trust account for expenses directly related to the home when she was title owner of the same. RR 11. In Count III⁸, the referee found a conflict of interest in that respondent had represented all sides in the first real estate closing. RR 12. Lastly, respondent was found guilty of another conflict of interest in the same transaction in that she allowed her own interests to conflict with those of her clients. RR 13. Each act of misconduct

Respondent was found not guilty of Count II, which alleged that respondent had collected a clearly excessive fee.

will be discussed below relative to the appropriateness of the recommended two year suspension.

A. The misuse of trust money.

Respondent's trust account violations arise from her acceptance and later deposit of what appeared to be a cashier's check in the amount of \$90,000.00 drawn on the Banco de Credito Argentino payable through the Bank of New York. The respondent sought provisional credit for the use of the \$90,000.00 prior to proceeding to close the transaction. RR para. 20. In addition it is clear that Capitol Bank, where respondent held her trust account and the Bank of New York, the corresponding bank on the draft in question, on August 31, 1990, gave respondent authority to use the \$90,000.00. However, it was later discovered that the draft had been altered from its original face amount of \$90.00. RR 6. Respondent's use of the \$90,000.00 prior to notice that the draft had been altered is not an issue. The referee found that it was respondent's continued use of the trust monies, after knowledge that the Bank of New York was making a claim against the funds, that was unethical. 9 RR 6-7.

Respondent claims that her use of disputed trust funds warrants only the imposition of a public reprimand. Respondent's brief at 31. In reaching this erroneous conclusion, respondent points this court towards two public reprimand cases in which the lawyers were disciplined for trust account improprieties. The Florida Bar v. Lumley, 517 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1987); The

⁹ Respondent, in her brief, attempts to argue that there was no dispute concerning the funds since Capitol Bank had changed its position several times on whether or not they were going to demand a return of the \$90,000.00. See respondent's brief at 30. What respondent fails to point out is that the Bank of New York had filed suit against respondent to collect these funds. TT 89-93. This lawsuit clearly demonstrates that there was a dispute over the funds in question.

Florida Bar v. Dougherty, 541 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1989). The <u>Dougherty</u> decision is distinguishable due to the extensive mitigation found, in that the lawyer had fully cooperated with the bar¹⁰ and had given "extensive personal and legal contribution(s) to his community". <u>Dougherty</u> at 612. Respondent's assertion of mitigation will be discussed below.

In <u>Lumley</u>, the court specifically found that there was "no intent to deprive the clients of their money". <u>Lumley</u> at 14. Respondent's conduct in this case is dissimilar. In the case at hand, the respondent purposefully spent approximately \$28,000.00 of disputed monies on a home that she owned.

Respondent attempts to convince the court that her actions were made in good faith, with the intent to protect all parties and that the only person harmed by her misuse of disputed trust funds was herself. What respondent's argument ignores is that "(r)egardless of no client being injured, trust account violations are serious transgressions". The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 599 So. 2d 100, 101 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Breed, 378 So. 2d 783, 785 (Fla. 1979) [Disbarment is warranted for misuse of client trust monies even though no client is injured.].

This court has made a distinction between the negligent handling of a trust account and the intentional misuse of the same. See for example <u>The Florida Bar v. Weiss</u>, 586 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1991) [Six month suspension for grossly negligent handling of a trust account.]; <u>The Florida Bar v. Simring</u>, 612 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 1993) [Disbarment for intentional misuse of client

In this case respondent had to be forced to give discovery and came close to having discovery sanctions imposed against her for failing to give discovery. The most telling example of respondent's noncooperation was the production at trial of several documents that were requested upon the filing of the bar's complaint, but never produced until the final hearing. TT 313-326.

funds.]. In this case respondent's actions were intentional. She purposefully spent disputed funds to protect the house, that she owned, from foreclosure. While the referee found this to be a technical violation of the rules, the Bar most respectfully disagrees.

B. The dual representation.

The referee correctly points out that respondent represented both sides in the Heller to Sullivan and Garcia sale. RR 9. In the referee's opinion this representation, as a lawyer, was limited in nature. RR 9. The referee reaches this conclusion as the Hellers had a second lawyer, Joseph Hubert, in the background helping the Hellers make decisions once the deal started falling apart. RR 9-10. Respondent grasps upon this finding and attempts to minimize her conflict and then blames the Hellers insistence on closing for all her misfortunes in this transaction. However, respondent's argument misses the mark. It is respondent's representation of the Hellers, as their lawyer to complete the Hellers' closing documents and as their realtor, 11 which causes respondent to be obligated to accede to the Hellers' request to close. Perhaps if respondent only had one master, Sullivan and Garcia, who were clearly unable to close pursuant to the terms of the contract, respondent would not have felt compelled to bring the parties together to renegotiate and close the transaction. Of course had the deal not closed, respondent's real estate commission could have been forfeited.

As an extension to this argument, respondent also contends that the Hellers were not harmed by respondent's actions. The referee clearly resolved this argument by noting that respondent's actions "adversely affected the Hellers in that the Hellers remained liable for one of the

 $^{^{11}}$ See footnote 3.

mortgages that attached to the property" even though first Sullivan and then respondent owned the home. RR 10.

Respondent next points to <u>The Florida Bar v. Teitelman</u>, 261 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 1972) and argues that based upon <u>Teitelman</u> respondent could have represented both the buyer and the seller in this transaction if certain criteria were met. Respondent misreads <u>Teitelman</u> and the criteria set forth therein. The <u>Teitelman</u> decision is not about when a lawyer can represent both sides in a real estate transaction. Rather, <u>Teitelman</u> "dealt with those situations in which an attorney, while representing one party, also directly bills the other party a fee for preparing legal documents" when that lawyer did not represent the party so billed. <u>The Florida Bar v. Belleville</u>, 591 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991). In fact, the first <u>Teitelman</u> requirement, referenced in respondent's brief, is that there be a "client-attorney relationship between such attorney and the seller". <u>Id</u>. The referee found such a relationship between respondent and the Hellers.

But there is more than just a simple dual client conflict found in this case. What makes this case different from <u>Teitelman</u> is the fact that respondent had a second role to play for the Hellers as their realtor. It is this additional role that should have caused the respondent to suggest that the Hellers have someone else prepare their closing documents.

Last year in a pure dual client conflict of interest case, this court suspended a lawyer for six months. The Florida Bar v. Mastrilli, 614 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1993). In Mastrilli the court was faced with a situation where the lawyer had represented a driver and a passenger in the same automobile for damages arising from an accident. Id. at 1082. Mastrilli eventually stopped representing the driver and then sued the driver on behalf of the passenger.

<u>Id</u>. This is strikingly similar to respondent's eviction of Sullivan and Garcia from the Lighthouse Point home. 12

In a less serious conflict case a lawyer received a public reprimand for representing both sides in the sale of a business, and having an additional conflict problem due to a close personal relationship with one of the parties to the sale. The Florida Bar v. Stone, 538 So. 2d 460, 461 (Fla. 1989). But in Stone you did not have the additional conflicts arising from acting as a realtor or the other roles played by respondent in this transaction. The case at hand is also more serious as there are trust accounting violations.

C. The personal conflict.

We now turn to the decisions that formed the predicate for this case. Without these decisions respondent would not have been in a position to feel the need to use disputed trust monies to protect her property from foreclosure or to request a client to quit claim their home to her for no consideration. In Count IV respondent has been found guilty of two distinct personal conflict rule violations. The first conflict was a violation of R. Reg. Fla. Bar 4-1.7(b), which provides in pertinent part that a "lawyer shall not represent a client if the lawyer's exercise of professional judgement may be materially limited by . . . the lawyer's own interests". Respondent's personal stake in this transaction is created by the various roles that she played and the expectation of monetary gain therefrom (i.e. a real estate commission). The second conflict arises from respondent's failure to follow the precepts of how

Also of interest was respondent's sworn letter to detective Ruebottom (TFB exhibit Q) and respondent's testimony regarding the same. TT 300-304. In this letter respondent reveals everything she knew about the real estate transaction as well as everything she knew about Sullivan and Garcia. Some or all of this information may have been governed by the attorney client privilege.

lawyers must conduct themselves when engaging in business transactions with clients. R. Reg. Fla. Bar 4-1.8(a). First, the terms of the transaction must be "fair and reasonable" and disclosed in writing. The transfer of a home, no matter how tenuous an ownership interest, for no consideration¹³ can hardly be described as "fair and reasonable". Further, respondent did not advise Sullivan to seek independent counsel prior to assigning all of her interest in the home to respondent.¹⁴

Respondent's major premise underlying her argument that she should at most receive a public reprimand is that no one was harmed by her actions. This is far from accurate. Sullivan and Garcia gave respondent the home in which they were living and were later evicted from this home by respondent. Garcia did not even have a say in this decision because he was not on the deed as respondent did not know him and would not put him on the deed. TFB exhibit Q at 4. It is true that Sullivan and Garcia's ownership interest in the home was tenuous at best, but it was an ownership interest. The Hellers were harmed by the fact that they no longer had an ownership interest in the home, but were still liable for at least one of the mortgages. If the home had been foreclosed, it was the Hellers whose credit rating was the most at risk. Lastly, the Bank of New York was harmed in that respondent spent approximately \$28,000.00 in which they had a claim of ownership. The bar concedes that not every one came into this transaction with clean hands, but

When pressed on the issue of what, if any, consideration was paid to Sullivan, respondent replied that she "bought her lunch that day". TT p. 283, 1.25 to p.284, 1. 13.

In fact, when asked if she had advised Sullivan to seek independent counsel, respondent answered: "Why should I tell her to get independent counsel"? TT p. 285, 1.20-23

that does not give a lawyer license to take advantage of them or to ignore the rules that regulate an attorney's conduct.

Respondent also alleges that she did not profit from this conflict. The following reflects the monies collected by respondent in these transactions:

PURPOSE	AMOUNT
Martino proceeds (RR 16)	\$ 8,123.51
Legal fees (RR 5)	5,500.00
Rent (RR 8)	200.00
Real estate commission (RR 8)	5,000.00
Trust balance (RR 5)	1.00
TOTAL	\$18,824.51

Respondent testified to the following expenditures against these funds:

<u>PURPOSE</u>	AMOUNT
Materials (TT 329)	\$ 2,500.00
Eaton (TT 328-329)	6,731.35
Horsman (TT 329)	1,688.58
Miscellaneous (TT 331)	2,000.00
$ extsf{TOTAL}$	\$12,919.93

The Martino promissory note valued at \$30,000.00 is more than likely a wash as it is pledged to the Bank of New York. A comparison of the two figures reveals a profit to Reed of \$5,904.58. This is hardly a loss.

Respondent contends that she should receive at most an admonishment for the violations found by the referee as to Count IV. Respondent's brief however makes reference to three cases in which the lawyers received some form of suspension.

The respondent refers to a disciplinary action wherein the lawyer was suspended for two months for purchasing 220 acres of land from a client without making the proper disclosures or informing the client to seek independent counsel. The Florida Bar v. White, 368 So. 2d. 1294 (Fla. 1979). The bar sees the White decision as a good starting point in what discipline should attach for Count IV, but there is one major factual difference in the

White case. In White, the lawyer paid consideration for the purchase of the client's property. Id. at 1295. In the case at hand no consideration was paid.

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